
 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

January 19, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

                                **Special accommodations for the handicapped and hearing impaired are available 
 by special arrangement through the City Clerk’s Office at 360-423-0900** 

 
 
 
 
Invocation: 
 Pastor Marv Kasemeier, New Song Worship Center 

 
 
Roll Call to Council Members: 

 
 
1. Approve Minutes: 

1.1. January 5, 2016 – Regular Meeting 
 

 
2. Presentation: 

2.1. West Kelso Subarea Plan 
 
 
3. Consent Items: 

3.1. Auditing of Accounts 
 
 

4. Citizen Business: 
 

 
5. Council Business: 

5.1. Discussion – Real Estate Services Request for Proposals 
 
 

6. Action/Motion Items: 
6.1. Ordinance, 1st Reading 

6.1.1. Amending Nuisance Abatement relating to Shopping Cart Regulations 
 
 



 

Kelso City Council Agenda 
Regular Meeting, 6:00 pm 

January 19, 2016 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

203 South Pacific 
Kelso, WA  98626 

 
 

Other Items: 
• City Manager Report 
• Staff/Dept Head Reports 
• Council Reports 
• Other Business 
• Executive Session 



KELSO CITY COUNCIL                                                                        January 5, 2016 
6:00 P.M.                                                                                       REGULAR MEETING 
 
Pastor Mark Schmutz, Northlake Baptist Church, gave the invocation.  Mayor David 
Futcher led the flag salute.  The Regular Meeting of the Kelso City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Futcher.  Councilmembers in attendance were Rick Roberson and Todd 
McDaniel. 
 
OATH OF OFFICE: 
 
City Clerk Brian Butterfield swore in the following individuals to the Kelso City Council: 
 David Futcher, Council Position No.4 
 Jim Hill, Council Position No.5 
 Larry Alexander, Council Position No.6 
 Nancy Malone, Council Position No.7 

 
Minutes:  Upon motion by Councilmember Roberson, seconded by Councilmember Hill, 
‘Approve the Minutes of the 10/20/15 Transportation Benefit District Special Meeting 
and the 12/15/15 Regular Meeting,’ motion carried, all voting yes. 
 
ELECTION OF COUNCIL OFFICERS: 
  
Mr. Butterfield opened the floor for nominations for Mayor.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember Roberson, ‘Nominate David Futcher for Mayor.’  Mr. Butterfield asked 
if there were other nominations.  Hearing none, the nominations were closed.  Motion 
carried, all voting yes.  David Futcher was elected to the Mayor position. 
 
Mr. Butterfield opened the floor for nominations for Deputy Mayor.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember McDaniel, ‘Nominate Rick Roberson for Deputy Mayor.’  Upon motion 
by Councilmember Hill, ‘Nominate Todd McDaniel for Deputy Mayor.’ Mr. Butterfield 
asked if there were other nominations.  Hearing none, the nominations were closed.  
Councilmembers Futcher, McDaniel, Alexander, and Malone voted for Rick Roberson.  
Councilmember Hill voted for Todd McDaniel.  Rick Roberson was elected to the 
Deputy Mayor position.  
 
At 6:09 p.m., the Council adjourned for a three-minute recess to reorganize the seating 
arrangement. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

1. Contract Closeout:  Jones Road Waterline Replacement Project, Nutter 
Corporation. 

 
Upon motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Roberson, 
‘Approve the Consent Agenda,’ motion carried, all voting yes. 
 



Kelso City Council                               -2-                                  1/05/16 Regular Meeting 
 
CITIZEN BUSINESS: 
 
Mark J. Kirkland, 2941 Melrose Lane, spoke about stormwater drainage on Hwy 99 
south of the Longview Wye.  
 
Rod Wright, 97 Banyan Drive, spoke about stormwater drainage on Haussler Road and 
the Aldercrest area. 
 
Jerry Reagor, 335 Hazel Street spoke about making the state responsible for repairing 
certain bridges and Minor Road. 
 
Gregg Donges, 606 North 23rd Avenue, spoke about potholes on Allen Street and 
regulations for at home auto repair work.  He spoke about branches in the road on his 
street. He spoke about the City posting a notice for utility rate increases. 
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS: 
 
Interlocal Agreement – Southwest Washington Regional Airport Authority 
Management Services:  Upon Motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by 
Councilmember Roberson, ‘Approve the Agreement.’ City Manager Taylor briefed the 
Council on the agreement.  Lengthy discussion followed.  Councilmembers Futcher, 
Alexander, McDaniel, and Roberson voted yes.  Councilmembers Malone and Hill voted 
no.  Motion passed, 4 to 2. 
 
Washington State Department of Transportation Airspace Lease Agreement:  Upon 
motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Roberson, ‘Approve 
the Lease Agreement,’ motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
Kelso/Longview Chamber of Commerce Visitor Center Lease Agreement 
Amendment:  Upon motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember 
Roberson, ‘Approve the Amended Lease Agreement’, motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
City Real Estate Services Request for Proposal (RFP) Discussion:  City Manager 
Taylor brought six RFP responses to the Council for consideration.  The following 
citizens spoke from the audience: 
 Butch Henry, 1201-1207 Lord Street, Pacific NW Realty 
 Steven R. Dahl, 2602 Harris Street Road, Pacific NW Realty 
 Todd Wade, 208 Vine Street, Woodford Commercial Real Estate 
 Rod Wright, 97 Banyan Drive 

 
Lengthy discussion followed.  With consensus of the Council, this item was tabled to be 
considered at the January 19, 2016 Regular Meeting. 
 
MOTION ITEMS:       



Kelso City Council                               -3-                                  1/05/16 Regular Meeting 
 
Ordinance No. 16-3865 – Amending KMC 18.12 Flood Plain Management:  The 
Deputy Clerk read the proposed ordinance by title only.  Upon motion by 
Councilmember McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Roberson, ‘Adopt Ordinance 
No. 16-3865, ‘AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING SECTION 
18.12.070 OF THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO FLOODPLAIN 
MANAGEMENT.’ Motion passed, all voting yes. 
 
Resolution No. 16-1150 – Employee Salary Classification Matrix Update, Amending 
Employee Handbook, Drug Free Workplace Policy: The Deputy Clerk read the 
proposed resolution by title only.  Upon motion by Councilmember McDaniel, seconded 
by Councilmember Roberson, ‘Pass Resolution No. 16-1150, ‘A RESOLUTION OF 
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 
15-1145 AND ADOPTING CHANGES TO THE SALARY CLASSIFICATION 
SYSTEM FOR NON-REPRESENTED EMPLOYEES, AMENDING THE 
PERSONNEL POLICY HANDBOOK APPLYING TO THE EMPLOYEES OF THE 
CITY AS INDICATED THEREIN.’ Lengthy discussion followed.  Councilmembers 
Futcher, McDaniel, Roberson, and Hill voted yes.  Councilmembers Malone and 
Alexander voted no.  Motion passed, 4 to 2. 
      
Appointment Council Position Vacancy:  Upon motion by Councilmember Hill, 
‘Extend the deadline for accepting applications for the council position vacancy to 
January 19, 2016.’  Motion died for lack of a second.  Upon motion by Councilmember 
McDaniel, seconded by Councilmember Malone, ‘Appoint Kim Lefebvre to Council 
Position No.3.’  Councilmembers Futcher, McDaniel, Roberson, Alexander, and Malone 
voted yes.  Councilmember Hill abstained.  Motion passed, 5 to 1. Mr. Butterfield 
administered the oath.   Kim Lefebvre was appointed to Council Position No.3.  
 
2016 City Council Standing Committee/Board Assignments:  With the consensus of 
the Council, the following Council Boards & Commissions Assignments were made: 
 SWEDC     

o Rick Roberson and Todd McDaniel  
 Airport Authority    

o David Futcher and Jim Hill (Alternate) 
 CAP Board     

o Nancy Malone and Kim Lefebvre 
 CEDC Executive Board   

o Steve Taylor 
 CEDC      

o Rick Roberson and Nancy Malone 
 City Audit     

o Todd McDaniel, Nancy Malone, and Jim Hill (Alternate)                                                
 Cowlitz Transit Authority Board  

o Larry Alexander, Rick Roberson, and Jim Hill (Alternate) 
 



Kelso City Council                               -4-                                  1/05/16 Regular Meeting 
 
 CWCOG     

o Rick Roberson and Kim Lefebvre (Alternate) 
 Disability Board    

o David Futcher 
 911 E-Board    

o Steve Taylor 
 Cowlitz County 911 Council   

o Jim Hill and Larry Alexander (Alternate) 
 KDRA    

o Larry Alexander and Nancy Malone 
 Fire Pension Board   

o David Futcher, Brian Butterfield and Traci Howard 
 Library Board   

o Kim Lefebvre and Larry Alexander (Alternate) 
 Lodging Tax Advisory 

o Todd McDaniel 
 Multi-Agency Coordinating Group 

o Steve Taylor and Chief Andrew Hamilton (Alternate) 
 Park Board Liaison 

o Larry Alexander and Jim Hill (Alternate) 
 Public Health Advisory Committee     

o Jim Hill 
 Sewer Operating Board (TRRWA)  

o Mike Kardas and Steve Taylor (Alternate) 
 Solid Waste Technical 

o Steve Taylor and Rick Roberson (Alternate) 
 Metropolitan Planning Organization   

o Mike Kardas and Rick Roberson (Alternate) 
 RTPO 

o Rick Roberson and Mike Kardas (Alternate) 
 ‘Big Idea’ Board  

o Larry Alexander and Kim Lefebvre (Alternate) 
 Pathways 2020  

o Steve Taylor 
 Cowlitz County Housing First Coalition 

o Jim Hill and Nancy Malone (Alternate) 
 TRRWA Governing Board 

o Todd McDaniel and Rick Roberson (Alternate) 
 
With the consensus of the Council, Gary Archer was appointed to the ‘Big Idea’ 
Board Citizen Position. 
 
MANAGER’S REPORT: 
 



Kelso City Council                               -5-                                  1/05/16 Regular Meeting 
 
Steve Taylor:   Congratulated the councilmembers. 
 
STAFF REPORTS: 
 
Finance Director/City Clerk Brian Butterfield:  Asked that the new councilmembers 
make an appointment with Patty Murray in the Finance Department. 
 
COUNCIL REPORTS: 
 
Todd McDaniel:  No report. 
 
Jim Hill:  No report. 
 
Nancy Malone:  No report. 
 
Rick Roberson:  Expressed thanks to the staff and the Public Works Department for the 
cleanup effort they did in the aftermath of a recent windstorm. 
 
Larry Alexander:  No report. 
 
Kim Lefebvre:   No report. 
 
David Futcher:   Commented that he appreciated the efficiency of what was 
accomplished tonight. He commented that he appreciated the opportunity to work with 
the new councilmembers. 
 
There being no further business, Mayor Futcher adjourned the meeting at 7:44 p.m. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                                 MAYOR 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
                            CITY CLERK 



AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 

 

SUBJECT TITLE:    

Presentation – W. Kelso Subarea Plan 

 
 

  

 

 

PRESENTED BY: 

Jeff Arango – BERK Consulting 

 

 

Agenda Item:    

 

Dept. of Origin: Community Development  

 

For Agenda of:  January 19, 2016  

 

City Attorney:  Janean Parker   

 

City Manager:  Steve Taylor   

 
 

AGENDA ITEM ATTACHMENTS:    

A copy of the Draft West Kelso Subarea Plan can be found on the city’s website at  

http://www.kelso.gov/west-kelso-subarea-plan.  

 

SUMMARY STATEMENT: 

As part of the City’s 2015 Comprehensive Plan update the neighborhood of West Kelso was designated as a 

special study area to examine the impacts of recent public improvements and future development potential. In 

July 2015, BERK consulting was hired to conduct the West Kelso Subarea plan to engage the public, research 

existing conditions, and explore tools to facilitate the desired future development of the neighborhood. 

 

BERK has conducted public outreach for input into this plan via two public workshops, a survey, stakeholder 

meetings, and a presence on the City’s website. They have developed a Vision Statement, guiding principles, 

and several alternative development patterns, which have been presented at previous Council meetings. Based 

on the feedback they have received from the public, staff, and the Council, the project manager will present the 

full draft plan and solicit feedback from the Council. 

 

 

http://www.kelso.gov/west-kelso-subarea-plan


AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 

 
SUBJECT TITLE:  City Real Estate Services 
Proposal  (Previously tabled at the January 5, 
2016 Regular Council Meeting) 
 
 
  
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of: __January 19, 2016_______ 
 
Originator:         Steve Taylor    
 
 
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 
Agenda Item Attachments:    
RFP for Kelso Real Estate Services 
Responses (6) from Real Estate Firms 
 
 
Summary Statement: 
Three years have passed since the City requested proposals for real estate services relating to the sale and 
lease of its properties.  Butch Henry, Pacific NW Realty, has been the City’s real estate representative since 
2006 and was successful in 2012 extending his services to the City for an additional three years.  The 
properties currently being listed are included in the RFP within this agenda packet.  Staff issued the request for 
proposals last November and received six responses from firms active in the Cowlitz County market: 
 

• Eric Fuller & Associates – Paul Young 
• Century 21/R.E. Lund Realty – Bob Lund 
• Pacific NW Realty – Butch Henry/Steve Dahl 
• Woodford Commercial Real Estate – Todd Wade/Chris Roewe 
• John L. Scott – Diane Lokan 
• RE/Max – Matt Peters 

 
All of the respondents had strong track records and extensive experience performing commercial sale and 
leasing transactions and marketing.  Marketing, pricing, and outreach methods varied among several brokers, 
with some approaches more targeted, and others quite broad. 
 
After significant review of the responses and communication with the respondents, staff’s recommendation is 
to enter into a one-year agreement with Woodford Commercial Real Estate.  Their large share of the 
commercial market in Cowlitz County, success in leasing and selling Kelso and Longview downtown properties, 
and general knowledge of small business and commercial lending set them apart as the firm with the highest 
likelihood of either selling or leasing the City’s vacant building spaces and developing solutions for the South 
Pacific vacant parcel.   
 



Woodford’s pricing terms are 5% commissions on lease and sale transactions and consulting services are 
$150/hr for Brokers and $75/hr for Licensed Assistants.  Commissions are to be paid by the seller of the 
property, but in the event a commission cannot be negotiated, the fee is 2.5% of the sales price.  The City 
would negotiate these terms within our standard Professional Services Agreement. 
 
The large response from the local real estate firms was refreshing and illustrates the greater interest in Kelso’s 
downtown market as well as a stronger economy.  Proposals from each of the respondents are included for 
Council’s review and consideration. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT 
Difficult to quantify.  Woodford’s commission rate is 5% vs. 5.75% with the City’s current agreement.  
However, assuming properties can be sold or leased, the sale prices and lease rates can vary, thus affecting 
the net amount realized by the City. 
 
OPTIONS: 
1) Move to authorize the City Manager to enter into an agreement with Woodford Commercial Real Estate for                                      
real estate services for a one (1) year period. 
2) Authorize the Manager to enter into an agreement with another qualified respondent. 
3) Provide staff with direction for further consideration at a later time. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Authorize the City Manager to enter into a professional services agreement with Woodford Commercial Real 
Estate for real estate services for a one (1) year period.  
 
 

































































































AGENDA SUMMARY SHEET 
Business of the City Council 
City of Kelso, Washington 

 
 
SUBJECT TITLE: AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF KELSO RELATING TO SHOPPING 
CART THEFT AND REGULATION AMENDING 
9.04.010 AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 9.64 
SHOPPING CART CONTROL TO THE KELSO 
MUNICIPAL CODE 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTED BY:  
 
Steve Taylor, City Manager 

 
Agenda Item:    
 
Dept. of Origin: City Manager  
 
For Agenda of:   January 19, 2016   
 
Originator:   Steve Taylor     
 
City Attorney:     Janean Parker  
 
City Manager:       Steve Taylor   
 

 

Agenda Item Attachments:    
Proposed Ordinance  
Exhibit A – Yakima Municipal Code Chapter 6.27 – Shopping Cart Regulations 
Exhibit B – Auburn Municipal Code Chapter 8.18 – Abandoned Shopping Carts 
 
SUMMARY STATEMENT: 
As part of the recent updates to the nuisance abatement/code enforcement program staff has 
researched potential solutions to the issue of shopping carts that have been abandoned throughout 
the City. The proposed approach will require retail establishments to affix a sign to each cart 
identifying the name of the establishment or owner of the cart as well as post notification on their 
property that is it unlawful to remove carts from the premises.  
 
The proposed ordinance adopts RCW 9A.56.270 which makes it a Class 3 civil infraction to remove 
carts from establishments meeting the criteria noted above in addition to creating a process for the 
retrieval, impoundment, and disposition of shopping carts and establishing a fee aimed at cost 
recovery. 
 
The proposed ordinance has an effective date on March 1, 2016, in order to give staff time to send 
local retail establishments notice of the new requirements and offer them an opportunity to provide 
comments and feedback. Staff has been working with the neighboring City of Longview to address 
the roving nature of shopping carts. 
 
Following previous discussions with Council in November 2015 regarding this issue, letters were sent 
out to local retailers known to use shopping carts informing them of the proposed change.  No 
comments have been received to date. 
 
The following article regarding shopping carts was published in The Daily News on February 21, 
2005. 
 



Chief Wayne Nelson thinks he has found a cure for the shopping cart blight that ails Kelso. 
The Kelso Police chief recently met with representatives from Target, Safeway, Sinnett's 
Marketplace and Dollar Tree and compiled a list of phone numbers that city employees may 
call to report stray shopping cart sightings. The store managers have agreed to collect the 
carts within a day or so of receiving calls, Nelson said. 
 
Last week, Nelson handed out the list of contact numbers to police officers, city employees 
who drive city vehicles and eagle-eyed city councilmen. 
 
Nelson said the store managers seemed willing to cooperate. "No one intended for their carts 
to be stolen and not returned," he said. 
 
He originally hoped to set up one lost shopping cart hotline, but that didn't pan out because 
each store has its own corporate policy for how aggressively it deals with wandering carts, he 
said. 
 
If the informal cart-corralling measure flops, the city may once again consider adopting an 
ordinance to address the issue, he said. 

 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Move to approve on first reading an ordinance amending Chapter 9.04 State Criminal Statutes 
Adopted and adding Chapter 9.64 Shopping Cart Control to the Kelso Municipal Code. 
 
 



1/15/2016

1

Shopping Cart Nuisance 
Regulations Update

January 19, 2016

City of Kelso

• Prevalent in downtown and West Kelso

• Neighborhood Eyesores/Blight

• Contain trash and hazardous materials (needles, etc.)

Stolen & Abandoned Shopping Carts



1/15/2016

2

A few current examples…

Limitations

• Few retailers have locking mechanisms on carts

• Retailers are notified by nuisance abatement 
staff of the location of abandoned carts

• Most often, the carts are not retrieved

• City bears expense of removing carts or 
returning to owners

• Inability to take legal action against individuals 
illegally possessing carts



1/15/2016

3

Legal Remedies

• RCW 9A.56.270 allows law enforcement to cite 
or arrest individuals in unlawful possession of 
shopping carts – only if City adopts ordinance

• Citations or arrests can only occur if retailers 
have affixed signage to their carts and provided 
notice prohibiting unauthorized removal

• City code currently does not incorporate these 
provisions

• Longview
– Makes contact with owner after identifying cart 

(gives three days)

– Calls Waste Control to pick up carts if not already 
removed

– Waste Control charges for time and dump fee 
(if applicable)

– Waste Control may deliver carts back to retailer or 
disposes of carts

Examples…



1/15/2016

4

• Yakima
– Adopts RCW and requires retailers to identify and 

retrieve carts

– Notifies owner of abandoned cart if signage is affixed; 
provides 96 hours for removal (not including 
weekends)

– Impounds carts and charges $25.00 fine for pickup 
(carts with locking devices are exempt from fine)

– Disposes of carts if not reclaimed within 7 days of 
initial notice

Examples…

• Auburn
– Adopts RCW and requires retailers to identify and 

retrieve carts

– Impounds carts and sends notice to owners

– Owners pay impoundment fee of $30.00/cart, and are 
assessed an additional $70.00/cart disposal fee if not 
retrieved from impoundment area within 14 days.

– If carts are not identified, impounded carts will be 
disposed of without notice, but fee will be assessed.

Examples…



1/15/2016

5

• Amend KMC 9.04.010 (identifies the City’s list of 
offenses) to adopt RCW 9A.56.270 Shopping 
Cart Theft 

• Create new KMC Chapter 9.64 Shopping Cart 
Control

• Ordinance is based on Yakima’s shopping cart 
abatement program.

Proposed KMC Changes

• Makes it a Class 3 civil infraction to be in possession of 
carts illegally more than 100 feet away from a store’s 
parking area and makes it a misdemeanor with proper 
signage and proof of intent.

• Require retailers to affix signage to carts and post notice 
on premises.

• Identify carts and provide 48 hours notice to owners for 
retrieval (not counting weekends).

• Impound carts and charge $25.00 fine for collecting the 
cart; Carts with locking devices are exempt.

• Dispose of carts after seven days from initial notification

Program Proposal



1/15/2016

6

• Staff sent letters to area retailers requesting comments 
on the proposed ordinance in November.  No feedback 
has been received.

• Upon adoption, City would begin program on March 1st, 
2016

• Program Goals
– Reduce instances of cart theft through citations
– Obtain retailer cooperation in cart retrieval
– Encourage installation of locking devices

• Many West Kelso carts come from Longview retailers
– Longview retailers will be notified when carts are identified
– $25.00 fine will be collected prior to impoundment release

Next Steps

Questions?



 1 

ORDINANCE NO.  __________ 
 

 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF KELSO RELATING TO 
SHOPPING CART THEFT AND REGULATION AMENDING 9A.56.270 
AND ADDING A NEW CHAPTER 9.62 SHOPPING CART CONTROL TO 
THE KELSO MUNICIPAL CODE 
 
 
WHEREAS, shopping carts lost, stolen or abandoned on public and private 

property can obstruct access to sidewalks and streets, interfere with pedestrian and 

vehicular traffic, and impede emergency services creating a potential public safety hazard 

and harming public health and safety; and  

WHEREAS, left unattended, lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts cause 

deteriorated community appearance and can create conditions of blight in the community; 

and 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that abandoned shopping carts is becoming 

a more common problem within the City constituting a public nuisance; and  

WHEREAS, the City wishes to deter the removal of shopping carts from 

businesses provide for the retrieval of lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts,  and to 

prevent the accumulation of removed carts on public and private properties within the 

City;  

NOW, THEREFORE, 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF KELSO DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  Kelso Municipal Code Chapter 9.04 Amended.   That Kelso Municipal 

Code Section 9.04.010 is hereby amended to add the following state statute to the list of statutes 

adopted by reference:   

RCW 9A.56.270    Shopping Cart Theft.    
 
 SECTION 2.  Kelso Municipal Code Title 9 Amended.  That Kelso Municipal Code 



 2 

Title 9 is hereby amended to add a new Chapter 9.64 as follows:   

Chapter 9.64 – Shopping Cart Control. 

9.64.010  Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to prevent the unlawful removal of shopping carts from the 

premises of businesses and to provide for the prompt retrieval of lost, stolen, or abandoned 

shopping carts to promote public health, safety, and welfare. 

9.64.020. Removal of shopping cart violation and penalties. 

A. It is a Class 3 civil infraction as defined in RCW 7.80.120 for a person without written 

permission of the owner or person entitled to possession to abandon or to be in possession of a 

shopping cart that is the property of another more than 100 feet away from the parking area of 

the retail establishment or shopping cart containment area of the owner of the shopping cart. 

B. This section shall apply only if: (1) the shopping cart has a sign permanently affixed to it that 

identifies the owner of the cart or the retailer, or both, (2) the retail establishment posts 

notification to  the public of the procedure to be used for authorized removal of the cart from the 

premises and  notifies the public that the unauthorized removal of the cart from the premises or 

parking area of the retail establishment, or the unauthorized abandonment of the cart, is 

unlawful, and lists a telephone number or address for returning carts;.   

9.64.030  Shopping cart identification signs and notice required. 

A.    Every shopping cart made available for use by customers shall have the following:   (a)  a 

sign permanently affixed to it that identifies the owner of the cart or the retailer, or both; (b) 

notifies the public of the procedure to be utilized for authorized removal of the cart from the 

premises; (c) notifies the public that the unauthorized removal of the cart from the premises or 

parking area of the retail establishment, or the unauthorized possession of the cart, is unlawful; 

and (d) lists a telephone number or address for returning carts removed from the premises or 

parking area to the owner or retailer. 

B.    Every retail establishment providing shopping carts shall post in a conspicuous location on 

the retail establishment property a notification to the public that unauthorized removal of 



 3 

shopping carts from the premises of the business and the unauthorized possession of a shopping 

cart is unlawful. The posted notification shall also contain the procedure to be utilized for 

authorized removal of the cart from the business premises and list a telephone number or address 

for returning carts removed from the premises. 

C.    Every retail establishment providing shopping carts shall keep on file with the City Police 

Department  a current telephone number and physical address at which the retail establishment 

may be contacted for the purpose of reporting the location of abandoned, lost, or stolen shopping 

carts. 

9.64.040  Retrieval and impoundment procedures. 

A.    Impoundment with Notice. The City may impound a shopping cart which has affixed to it 

identification information as required by KMC 9.64.020(B), if the following conditions have 

been satisfied: 

1.    Location Outside of Premises. The shopping cart is located outside the premises or 

parking area of a retail establishment and is left unattended or discarded on public 

property owned by or under the control of the city, or on any right-of-way within the city, 

or on private property where the owner has consented to removal; and 

2.    Notice of the cart’s discovery and location is given to the shopping cart’s owner, 

retailer, or agent unless such notice has been voluntarily waived by the shopping cart’s 

owner, retailer, or agent; and 

3.    Failure to Retrieve Cart. The shopping cart is not retrieved within forty eight (48) 

hours from the date notice is given. The forty-eight hours shall be calculated using only 

days Monday through Friday and will not include weekend days Saturday and Sunday. 

B.    Impoundment without Notice. A shopping cart may be impounded without notice if one of 
the following conditions is satisfied: 

1.    Hazardous Location. If a shopping cart will impede emergency services, or the 

normal flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, city enforcement personnel are authorized 

to immediately retrieve the shopping cart from public or private property and impound it. 

If the cart has identification information affixed, the owner will be notified and given 



 4 

forty-eight hours to retrieve the cart before a collection fee is assessed using the time 

calculation listed in subsection (A)(3) of this section; or 

2.    Lack of Identification. If a shopping cart is unattended or discarded and located 

outside the premises or parking area of a retail establishment and does not have the 

required identification information affixed thereto as required by KMC 9.64.020(B), the 

city may immediately retrieve the shopping cart from public property owned by or under 

control of the city, any right-of-way within the city, or private property with the consent 

of the owner; or 

3.    Evidence of a Crime. Any lost or stolen shopping cart may be impounded as 

evidence in a criminal investigation.  

9.64.050 Fees and disposition of carts. 

A.    Impounded Carts. When a shopping cart is impounded in accordance with this chapter, the 
city may charge a cart collection fee to the owner of a shopping cart. The fine shall be in the 
amount of twenty-five dollars per cart and each cart collected shall constitute a separate 
violation. Any owner having installed a locking device on its carts which has been disabled by 
one other than the owner or his agent shall be exempt from the fine. 

B.    Disposition of Carts. The city may sell or otherwise dispose of any cart not reclaimed within 
seven days from the date of notification to the owner or the owner’s agent of the cart’s discovery 
and location.  

 SECTION 3.  Severability.  The provisions of this Ordinance are declared to be 
severable. If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this Ordinance or the application 
thereof to any person, establishment, or circumstances shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall 
not affect the other provisions or application of this Ordinance. 

 SECTION 4.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 5 days 
after its passage and publication of summary as required by law. 
  

ADOPTED by the City Council and SIGNED by the Mayor this ____ day of _______ 

___________, 2016. 

       ____________________________________ 
ATTEST/AUTHENTICATION:    MAYOR 



 5 

 
________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
________________________________ 
CITY ATTORNEY 
PUBLISHED:_____________________ 



Exhibit A 

Yakima Municipal Code  
Chapter 6.27 SHOPPING CART REGULATIONS 

Page 1/3 

The Yakima Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 2015-023, pa ed August 21, 2015.  

 Chapter 6.27 

SHOPPING CART REGULATIONS 

Sections: 
6.27.010    Purpose. 
6.27.020    Declaration of nuisance. 
6.27.030    Exemptions. 
6.27.040    Definitions. 
6.27.050    Shopping cart identification signs and notice required. 
6.27.060    Retrieval and impoundment procedures. 
6.27.070    Fees and disposition of carts. 
6.27.080    Severability. 

6.27.010 Purpose. 
It is the primary purpose of this chapter to provide for the prompt retrieval of lost, stolen or abandoned shopping 
carts to promote public safety and improve the image and appearance of the city. It is a further purpose of this 
chapter to prevent the accumulation of illegally removed carts on public or private properties. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 
(part), 2009). 

6.27.020 Declaration of nuisance. 
Retail establishments provide shopping carts for the convenience of customers shopping on the premises of the 
businesses. Shopping carts that have been removed from the premises of the business and left abandoned on public 
or private property throughout the city constitute a public nuisance and a potential hazard to the health and safety of 
the public. Shopping carts abandoned on public and private property can create conditions of blight in the 
community, obstruct free access to sidewalks, streets and other rights-of-way, interfere with pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic on pathways, driveways, public and private streets, and impede emergency services. It is for these reasons 
that such lost, stolen, or abandoned shopping carts are hereby declared to be a public nuisance which shall be subject 
to abatement in the manner set forth in this chapter, or in any other manner provided by law. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 
(part), 2009). 

6.27.030 Exemptions. 
This chapter shall not apply to shopping carts that are removed for repair or maintenance authorized by the owner or 
owner’s agent. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 (part), 2009). 

6.27.040 Definitions. 
Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, the following words and terms as used in this chapter shall have the 
following meanings: 

“Abandoned shopping cart” means any shopping cart left unattended or discarded upon any public property owned 
by or under the control of the city, or left on any right-of-way within the city, or private property other than the 
premises of the retail establishment from which the shopping cart was removed. 

“Authorized agent” means the owner, or an employee or authorized agent of the owner, entitled to possession of the 
shopping cart. 

“Authorized customer” means a customer of the retail establishment, having the written permission of the owner or 
owner’s agent to remove the shopping cart from the business premises. 

“Enforcement personnel” means any police officer, code enforcement inspector, or designated staff employed by the 
city of Yakima. 

“Lost or stolen shopping cart” means a shopping cart that is both: 

A.    Marked with the identifying information required by YMC 6.27.050; and 



Exhibit A 

Yakima Municipal Code  
Chapter 6.27 SHOPPING CART REGULATIONS 

Page 2/3 

The Yakima Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 2015-023, pa ed August 21, 2015.  

B.    Removed from the premises of a retail establishment by any person other than an authorized agent, an 
authorized customer, enforcement personnel, or a person with proof of ownership of the shopping cart. 

“Owner” means any person or entity, in connection with the functions of a business, who owns, leases, possesses, or 
makes a shopping cart available to customers or the public. 

“Parking area” means a parking lot or other property provided by a retail establishment for the use of customers of 
said retail establishment for the parking of customer vehicles. The parking area of a retail establishment located in a 
multistore complex or a shopping center shall include the entire parking area used by the multistore complex or 
shopping center. 

“Premises” means any building, property, or other area upon which any retail establishment business is conducted or 
operated in the city of Yakima, including the parking area provided for customers in such retail establishment. 

“Retail establishment” means any business located in the city of Yakima which offers or provides shopping carts for 
the use of the customers of such business regardless of whether such business is advertised or operated as a retail or 
wholesale business, and regardless of whether such business is open to the general public, is a private club or 
business, or is a membership store. 

“Shopping cart” or “cart” means a motorized or non-motorized basket which is mounted on wheels or a similar 
device generally used in a retail establishment by a customer for the purpose of transporting goods of any kind. 
(Ord. 2009-31 § 1 (part), 2009). 

6.27.050 Shopping cart identification signs and notice required. 
A.    Every shopping cart made available for use by customers shall have a sign permanently affixed to it that 
includes the identification of the retail establishment or owner of the shopping cart in accordance with RCW 
9A.56.270 as adopted by YMC 6.68.020. 

B.    Every retail establishment shall post in a conspicuous location on the retail establishment property a 
notification to the public that unauthorized removal of shopping carts from the premises of the business and the 
unauthorized possession of a shopping cart is unlawful. The posted notification shall also contain the procedure to 
be utilized for authorized removal of the cart from the business premises. 

C.    Every retail establishment shall keep on file with the city of Yakima department of refuse a current telephone 
number and physical address at which the retail establishment may be contacted for the purpose of reporting the 
location of abandoned, lost, or stolen shopping carts. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 (part), 2009). 

6.27.060 Retrieval and impoundment procedures. 
A.    Impoundment with Notice. Enforcement personnel may impound an abandoned shopping cart which has 
affixed to it identification information as required by YMC 6.27.050, if the following conditions have been satisfied: 

1.    Location Outside of Premises. The shopping cart is located outside the premises or parking area of a retail 
establishment and is located on public property owned by or under the control of the city, or left on any 
right-of-way within the city, or on private property where the owner has consented to removal; and 

2.    Notice of the cart’s discovery and location is given to the shopping cart’s owner, retailer, or agent unless 
such notice has been voluntarily waived by the shopping cart’s owner, retailer, or agent; and 

3.    Failure to Retrieve Cart. The shopping cart is not retrieved within ninety-six hours from the date notice is 
given. The ninety-six hours shall be calculated using only days Monday through Friday and will not include 
weekend days Saturday and Sunday. 

B.    Impoundment without Notice. A shopping cart may be impounded without notice if one of the following 
conditions is satisfied: 

1.    Hazardous Location. If a shopping cart will impede emergency services, or the normal flow of vehicular 
or pedestrian traffic, city enforcement personnel are authorized to immediately retrieve the shopping cart from 



Exhibit A 

Yakima Municipal Code  
Chapter 6.27 SHOPPING CART REGULATIONS 

Page 3/3 

The Yakima Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 2015-023, pa ed August 21, 2015.  

public or private property and impound it. If the cart has identification information affixed, the owner will be 
notified and given ninety-six hours to retrieve the cart before a collection fee is assessed using the time 
calculation listed in subsection (A)(3) of this section; or 

2.    Lack of Identification. If a shopping cart is abandoned and located outside the premises or parking area of 
a retail establishment and does not have the required identification information affixed thereto as required by 
YMC 6.27.050, city enforcement personnel are authorized to immediately retrieve the shopping cart from 
public property owned by or under control of the city, any right-of-way within the city, or private property with 
the consent of the owner; or 

3.    Evidence of a Crime. Any lost or stolen shopping cart as defined by YMC 6.27.040 may be impounded as 
evidence in a criminal investigation under YMC 6.68.020 or any other criminal investigation. (Ord. 2009-31 § 
1 (part), 2009). 

6.27.070 Fees and disposition of carts. 
A.    Impounded Carts. When a shopping cart is impounded in accordance with this chapter, the city may charge a 
cart collection fee to the owner of a shopping cart. The fine shall be in the amount of twenty-five dollars per cart and 
each cart collected shall constitute a separate violation. Any owner having installed a locking device on its carts 
which has been disabled by one other than the owner or his agent shall be exempt from the fine. 

B.    Disposition of Carts. The city may sell or otherwise dispose of any cart not reclaimed within seven days from 
the date of notification to the owner or the owner’s agent of the cart’s discovery and location. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 
(part), 2009). 

6.27.080 Severability. 
If any section, subsection, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of the ordinance codified in this chapter is declared 
invalid or unconstitutional for any reason, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of the 
ordinance codified in this chapter. (Ord. 2009-31 § 1 (part), 2009). 



Exhibit B 

Auburn Municipal Code  
Chapter 8.18 ABANDONED SHOPPING CARTS 

Page 1/3 

The Auburn Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 6561, and legislation pa ed through June 1, 2015.  

 Chapter 8.18 

ABANDONED SHOPPING CARTS 

Sections: 
8.18.010    Definitions. 
8.18.020    Findings – Purpose. 
8.18.030    Regulations. 
8.18.040    Nuisance – Enforcement. 

8.18.010 Definitions. 
The definitions set forth in this section shall govern the application and interpretation of this chapter: 

A. “Abandoned shopping cart” means any cart that has been removed, without written consent of the owner, from 
the owner’s business premises and is located on either public or private property. 

B. “Shopping cart” means a basket which is mounted on wheels or a similar device generally used in a retail or 
commercial establishment by a customer for the purpose of transporting goods of any kind. 

C. “Director” means the community development and public works director for the city of Auburn, or such other 
director or officer designated by the mayor to administer this chapter. 

D. “Owner” means any person or entity, who/which in connection with the conduct of a business, owns, leases, 
possesses, or makes a shopping cart available to customers or the public. For purposes of this chapter, “owner” shall 
also include the owner’s designated agent. 

E. “Premises” means the entire area owned, occupied, and/or utilized by an owner which provides shopping carts for 
use by customers or other persons, including any parking lot or other property provided by or on behalf of the owner 
for customer parking or use. (Ord. 6530 § 1, 2014; Ord. 6287 § 2, 2010; Ord. 5906 § 1, 2005.) 

8.18.020 Findings – Purpose. 
A. Public Nuisance. Abandoned shopping carts constitute a public nuisance, create potential hazards to the health 
and safety of the public, and interfere with pedestrian and vehicular traffic in the city. The accumulation of wrecked 
and dismantled abandoned shopping carts on public property tends to create conditions that reduce property values, 
and promotes blight and deterioration.  

B. Intention. The intent of this chapter is to ensure that measures are taken to facilitate the retrieval of abandoned 
shopping carts in a manner consistent with state law. 

C. Applicability. This chapter shall apply to all owners of any business establishments or other commercial services 
within the city of Auburn that provide shopping carts for customer use or the public. (Ord. 6530 § 1, 2014; Ord. 
5906 § 1, 2005.) 

8.18.030 Regulations. 
A. Abandonment Prohibited. It shall be unlawful for any person to cause or permit any shopping cart to be 
abandoned upon any sidewalk, street or other public area, other than the premises of the owner of such shopping 
cart. 

B. Cart Identification Required. 

1. Every shopping cart owned or provided by any owner must have a sign permanently affixed to the shopping 
cart that contains all of the following information: 

a. Identity of owner, business establishment, or both. 



Exhibit B 

Auburn Municipal Code  
Chapter 8.18 ABANDONED SHOPPING CARTS 

Page 2/3 

The Auburn Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 6561, and legislation pa ed through June 1, 2015.  

b. Notification to the public that the removal of the shopping cart from the premises is a violation of state 
law, and notification to the public of the procedure to be utilized for authorized removal of the cart from 
the premises. 

c. The address or phone number of the owner of the business establishment for shopping cart return. 

2. Any shopping cart found abandoned on public property that does not have the identification and information 
required by subsection B of this section, or does not have other ownership information or identification that is 
sufficient, in the city’s determination, to allow the city to mail to the owner an invoice/notice of impoundment 
by certified mail, return receipt requested, may be removed from such public property and disposed of by the 
city in accordance with state law for disposition of abandoned property. The determination of whether there is 
sufficient information of ownership, where the identification requirements of subsection B of this section are 
not met, shall be in the sole discretion of the director. (Ord. 6530 § 1, 2014; Ord. 6046 § 1, 2006; Ord. 5906 § 
1, 2005.) 

8.18.040 Nuisance – Enforcement.  
Abandoned shopping carts are declared to be a public nuisance. The city’s enforcement rights for abandoned 
shopping carts are nonexclusive, and include the enforcement methods provided in this chapter and in this title of the 
city code, as well as any other methods for abatement of nuisances, and any other enforcement methods available 
under the law or in equity, including the following: 

A. Civil Enforcement. Any owner who violates any provision of this chapter shall be subject to enforcement 
procedures for each violation in accordance with Chapter 1.25 ACC. 

B. Impoundment, Retrieval and Notification.  

1. As an alternative to civil enforcement or other methods of enforcement, the director may impound any 
abandoned shopping carts left on any public property owned by or under the control of the city, or left on any 
public right-of-way within the city. The director may hold impounded shopping carts at the city’s maintenance 
and operations yard until retrieved by the owner or disposed of by the city as herein provided. 

2. Whenever the director has impounded any abandoned shopping carts bearing the identification of ownership 
as required by ACC 8.18.030(B), or such other ownership information or identification that is sufficient, in the 
city’s determination, to allow the city to mail to the owner an invoice/notice of impoundment by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, the director or designee shall mail an invoice/notice of impoundment by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, to the owner at the address shown on the shopping cart’s identification label, or such 
address as is determined by the director to be appropriate to give reasonable notice to the owner where the 
identification requirements of ACC 8.18.030(B) are not met. Such invoice/notice shall advise that the 
impounded shopping carts may be redeemed at the city’s maintenance and operations yard during the normal 
work day (between 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, except holidays) upon payment of the 
administrative impoundment fee of $30.00 per shopping cart. The invoice/notice shall also advise the owner 
that if the impounded abandoned shopping carts are not retrieved within 14 days of the date of the 
invoice/notice, the abandoned shopping carts shall be subject to disposal by the city, and in addition to the 
$30.00 administrative impoundment fee the owner shall also be obligated to pay an additional $70.00 disposal 
fee, per shopping cart.  

3. If the impounded abandoned shopping carts are not retrieved within 14 days of the date of the invoice/notice, 
the director shall be authorized to dispose of the abandoned shopping carts through whatever means or manner 
the director deems reasonable and appropriate. In the event of such disposal, the director is authorized to take 
appropriate steps to collect the $30.00 administrative impoundment fee, as well as the additional $70.00 
disposal fee, per shopping cart. The shopping cart disposal fee shall be in addition to the administrative 
impoundment fee, and the administrative impoundment fee shall be due and owing regardless of whether or not 
the shopping carts are retrieved. 

4. If an abandoned shopping cart is impounded that does not have the ownership identification information 
permanently affixed to it as required by ACC 8.18.030(B), or does not have other ownership information or 



Exhibit B 

Auburn Municipal Code  
Chapter 8.18 ABANDONED SHOPPING CARTS 

Page 3/3 

The Auburn Municipal Code is current through Ordinance 6561, and legislation pa ed through June 1, 2015.  

identification that is sufficient, in the city’s determination, to allow the city to mail to the owner an 
invoice/notice of impoundment by certified mail, return receipt requested, the director shall be authorized to 
dispose of it immediately, without any notice requirements. (Ord. 6530 § 1, 2014; Ord. 6046 § 2, 2006; Ord. 
5906 § 1, 2005.) 


	1. - 2016-01-19
	1.1. - 2016-01-05
	2.1. - AgSu 01192016 Presentation BERK
	5.1. - Ag Sum - Real Estate Services RFP 01052016
	5.1.1. - RealEstateServicesRFP2015
	5.1.2. - JLScott_Response
	5.1.3. - PNWRealty_Response
	5.1.4. - EricFuller_Response
	5.1.5. - RELund_Response
	5.1.6. - REMax_Response
	5.1.7. - Woodford_Response
	6.1. - Ag Sum - Shopping Carts 10202015
	6.1.1. - Shopping Cart Nuis Abate - update 01192016
	6.1.2. - Shopping Cart Regulation--comparison of two 1-14-15
	6.1.3. - Shopping Cart Exhibit A
	6.1.4. - Shopping Cart Exhibit B

